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Independent auditor’s report

To the Sharcholders of
Kuwait Real Estate Company — KPSC
Kuwait

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait Real Estate Company - KPSC (the “Parent
Company”) and its subsidiatics (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in cquity and the consclidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements prescnt fattly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financtal
Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standatds on Auditing (ISAs), Our responsibilitics

under those standatds are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Andit of the Consohdated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Eihiw for Profersional Acconntants (inclding
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our cthical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance i our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the cutrent petiod, These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statcments as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of invesiment properties

The Group’s investment properties comptise of lands and buildings, including right of use assets. The total
carrying value of the investment properties are significant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
are carticd at fair value. Management determines the fair value of its investment properties on a periodic basis

using external appraisers to support the valuation.

Investment properties are valued using matk to market approach which is based on the latest sale prices of
properties within similar areas for certain investment properties, and income capitalization approach which is
based on estimates and assumptions such as tental values, occupancy rates, discount rates, finanecial stability of
tenants, market knowledge and historical transactions for certain other properties. Also, the disclosures relating
to the assumptions are relevant, given the estimation uncertainty and sensitivity of the valuations. Given the
size and complexity of the valuation of investment propertics and the importance of the disclosures relating to
the assumptions used in the valuation, we identified this as a key audit matter. The Group’s disclosures about
its investment properties are included in Notes 18 and 32.3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shateholders of Kuwait Real Estate Company - KPSC
(continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valyation of investment properties {vontinned)

As part of our audit procedures amongst others, we have evaluated the above assumptions and estimates made
by management and the external appraisers in the valuation and assessed the appropriateness of the data
supporting the fair value. Furthermore, we asscssed the appropriateness of the disclosures relating to the

sensitivity of the assumptions.

V alnation of financial assets at FVTPL and F17TOC

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL} and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) include significant unquoted investments. Due to their
unique structure and terms, the valuation of these instruments is based either on external independent
valuations or on entity-developed internal models. Therefore, there is significant measurement uncertainty
involved in valuations. As a result, the valuations of these instruments were significant to out audit. We have,
therefore, spent significant audit efforts in assessing the appropriateness of the valuations and underlying
assumptions. The Group’s disclosures about its financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI are included i Notes
12, 16 and 32.2 to the consclidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included agrecing carrying value of the unquoted sccurities to the Group’s internal or
external valuations prepared using valuation techniques, assessing and challenging the appropriateness of
estimates, assumptions and valuation methodology and obtained supporting documentation and explanatons
to corroborate the valuations.

Other information included in the Group’s Annual Report

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information ncluded
in the Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2023 other than the consolidated {inancial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Cotnpany’s Board of
Directors, prior to the date of our auditot’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2023 after the date of our auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and
will not express any form of assurance concluston theteon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the wotk we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior
to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that thete is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact, We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial

Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair prescntation of the consolidated financial statements

in accordance with [FRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
prepatation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to frand

Or CLtor.
In prepating the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,

or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Chatged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Kuwait Real Estate Company - KPSC
(continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives ate to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issuc an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantce that an audic
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can atise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements,

As part of an audit in accotdance with ISAs, we exetcisc professional judgment and maintain professional

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Tdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to frand or error, desigh and petform audit ptocedutcs responsive to those risks, and obtain audit cvidence that
is sufficicnt and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
tesulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
approptiate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an cpinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to cvents or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are requircd to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosutcs are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the datc of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Bvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statcments, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the undetlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation,

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the cntities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We arc responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

optnion.

We communicate with Those Charged with Governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencics in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Those Charged with Governance with a staternent that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditot’s Repoit to the Shareholdets of Kuwait Real Estate Company - KPSC
(continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with Those Charged with Govetnance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the carrent period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these mattets in our auditot’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have becn kept by the Parent Company and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of
Ditectors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith, We further report
that we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that
the consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No.1
of 2016, and its Exccutive Regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memotandum of
Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No.1 of 2016 and its Exccutive
Regulations nor of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Assoctation, as
amended, have occutred duting the year ended 31 December 2023 that might have had a material effect on the
business or financial position of the Parent Company.

We further report, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the provisions of Law No. 7 of
2010 regarding Capital Markets Authority and its relevant regulations have occurred during the year ended 31
December 2023 that might have had a matetial effect on the business or financial position of the Parent

Compan
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Kuwalt Real Estate Conmnpany ~ KPEE and Subvidhartes

Consalidated Finaonciai Statements
31 Pecembar 2023

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec 31 Dec
Notes 2023 2022
KD KD
Income
Real estate rental income 28,650,858 27,620,930
Real estate operating expenses (7,069,476} {7.642,5086)
Net rental income 21,581,382 19,978,024
Change in fair value of investment properties 18 (6,487,329) {5,594,596)
Gain / (loss) on sale of investment properties 18.2 10,958,893 £19,062)
Change in fair value of properiies under development 17 45,790 1,296,848
Loss on sale of trading properties “ {111,752)
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 758,535 {207,806}
{Loss} / gain on sale of financial assets at FVTPL (28,233) 9,813
Dividend income 362,354 420,308
Share of resulis of associates 15.2 398,451 2,394,021
Loss on disposal of associate 15.1.2 {120,000) -
Reversal of provision for tax of overseas subsidiary - 101,282
Other income 391,491 1,635,878
27,861,334 19,902,959
Expenses and other charges
General and administrative expenses (3,833,741) (2,862,727}
Finance costs 8 (10,924,254} (8,232,452}
Provision charge for doubtful debts 13 (150,927} {931,145)
(14,908,922)  (12,026,324)
Profif for the year before provisions for contribution to Kuwait
Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS), National
Labour Support Tax {NLST}, Zakat and directors’ remuneration 12,952,412 7,876,635
KFAS (160,619) :
NLST (296,731) (189,323)
Zakat (176,311) (107,705)
Board of directors’ remuneration (60,000} (40,000}
Profit for the year 12,258,751 7,539,607
Attributable to:
Ovwmers of the Parent Company 11,287,000 7,267,875
Non-controlling interests 971,751 271,732
Profit for the year 12,258,751 7,539,607
10 12.29 7.92

Basic and diluted earnings per share (Fils)

The notes set out on pages 12 10 65 form an integral part of this consolidated financial talements.



Kuowait Real Estate Company ~ KPFSE and Subusidiaries
Consolidated Financial $Statements
31 December 2023

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec 31 Dec
2023 2022
KD KD
Profit for the year 12,258,751 7,539,607
Other comprehensive income /{loss):
ftems that will not be reclassified subsequently to consofidated statement of
profit or foss
Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI 12,256,669 (3,277,963)
ftems that will be reclassified subsequently fo consolidated statement of
profit or loss

Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI 212,468 322,824
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 15,804 479,369
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 841,406 69,421
Total other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 13,326,347 (2,406,349)
Total comprehensive income for the year 25,585,098 5,133,258
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company 24,613,347 4,861,526
Non-controlling interests 971,751 271,732
Total comprehensive income for the year 25,585,098 5,133,258

The noter set ont on pages 12 o 65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial starements.



Huwait Real Estate Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries
Conselidated Financial Statements

31 December 2023

Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Notes 2023 2022
KD KD

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11 6,168,176 8,606,784
Financial assets at FVTPL 12 10,958,486 6,817,273
Accounts receivable and other assets 13 22,104,420 9,032,765
Due from related parties 28 16,312,323 12,709,129
Trading properties 14 8,163,775 8,151,197
Investment in associates 15 12,949,186 11,708,391
Financial assets at FVTOCI 16 52,785,580 35,628,130
Capital work in progress 53,180 131,015
Properties under development 17 7,867,584 4,879,134
Investment properties 18 253,631,531 262,055,667
Property and equipment 2,407,119 812,309
Total assets 393,401,360 360,531,794
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Due to banks 19 3,561,368 3,093,100
Accounts payable and other liabilities 20 18,535,468 20,360,760
Lease liabilities 21 7,860,289 15,643,979
Borrowings 22 199,051,069 180,264,916
Due to related parties 28 5,714,560 7,937,827
Provision for employees' end of service benefits 1,002,627 1,192 624
Total liabilities 235,725,381 228,493,206
Equity
Share capital 23 94,736,506 94,736,506
Share premium 23 3,425,191 3,425,191
Treasury shares 24 (5,171,096) (3,214,552)
Statutory and voluntary reserves 25 26,881,519 24 485,387
Other components of equity 26 1,798,379 (19,147,172)
Retained earnings 24,402,046 27,389,043
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company 146,072,545 127,674,403
Non-controlling interests 11,603,434 4,364,185
Total equity 157,675,979 132,038,588

393,401,360 360,531,794

Total liabilities and equity

==

Talal Jassem Al Bahar
Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

The notes set ont on pages 12 fo 65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



gHusEs [opuriif pappIosiuos asagy fo pnd jpasagis wp ol co vp 7} 50 wo jro gax sa0n Wy

6/6'GL9°LG)  PEV'E09LL  SPS'ZTI0'OVL  9POZOP'YZ  64L°862°L  615°182'9Z {960°LIL'G)  LBLSZPC  90S'08ibS £20Z J1equwada( L¢ Je edueleq
- - = (zev'oee'e) - ZEL'96ET - - - SOMI2891 O palosUBl |
- - - (s06'vit'9)  Q06viv'9 - - - - [D0LAL 18 S}9sse [uBul Jo [esodsip Uo ssaT
860'585°ST 1S2'118 pe'eo'yz  000°282°0L  ipeoze'el - - - = JeaA 8y} 10} 2lIGOUI BAISUSYSIALUOD 1B)0 |
ipeiaze’el - ire'aze’er - pgoze'er - - ; = JeaA au)) 10} SLU0OUI BAISUBYIIGWIOD JSYI0
L5L'852°Z) LSL'V 16 000°28Z'HL  000'28Z°LL - - - - - Jeah ay) 1o} Woid
£62°Z5 gevr'i9z's  (soz'size)  (ese'zov's)  @6T'vRLL - (r¥s'ose’l) - - SI3UMO BU} YHm suonIesuel |
(2e5'989'7) - {i¢g'989'z)  (ieg'989'7) - - - = - (5 210U} UOBNGUISIP SPUBPIAIP YSET)
- - - {ses'sel'z)  (zoi‘ii)) o o0’V - - {62 910U} SUONNQUISIP SB1BYS SNUOY
ogL'sze'oz - ogr'sze'or - ooo'zZZE'L - 0cL'c00'6l - - seleys Anseay) Jo ojeg
(vie'iee'czl - (b2e'1e8'cT) - - - (rie'1ee'e} - - saleys Ansesy) Jo aseyoing
v20'0v6'F vL0'0V6'Y & - - - - - - {22 s10u) Aeipisqns 10 uomisinboe uo Buisuy
000°s0¥'L vZr'ize'l 91621 91622 - - s s - {g'2 @101) AeIpIsSqns e jo [esodsip [enied uo uren
BES'2S0'TEL  SQLPOLY  COVPIOIZL  £¥0'682°2Z  (ZLZVpL'6L) 18E'SBYPZ  (ZSS'VIZE)  LGL'SZE'S  90S9EI'VE £z0z Lenuer | je souejeg
ax aM ax a¥ ax O ax a aM
1E30) sBupuies Amnba jo ELINELET SSJEYS winnuaad leyden
qng paulelsy  spsuodwos  AIBJUnjoA Ainseau | aleys aleyg
12310 pue
Loymeys
[(e101 s}sala3ul Auedwon Juaied ay) Jo S1I9UMO S1) ©) S|qeEINqLINE Ainbg
Buijjonuos
-UoN

Anba u) sabueys jo juswalejs pajepijosuoy

£20Z 12quuadef] 1€

SIUDUIDJLLG [BIDUBULY PIJEPILOSUDD

8

sSIURIPISYNG pue HG4) - Aueduioy axesy 2oy MmNy



Spuapis ponavi papijosues ssayi jo uod pniSaps up wuof 9 oy 71 $550d wo n0 gas sagon 24 1

89G°80'ZEL  GBL'POE'Y  SOV'PLOUZL ©HO'BRE'ZZ  (ZLL'IPL'6L) 28€'S8F'YE  (ZSSVLZ'E)  LBL'SEZFE  90G'9SL¥6 720z J8qwsas( LE 1€ adue(eq
- = - (ogs0gs'ty - 086'025'1 - = - $OAI9S2 0] PALISISUEI |

- = = Poy'LE {Fov'LE) - - - - S1eI008SE
ue 10 |30 LA Je sjasse [eioueuy o ajes uo uieb jo aleyg
- - - (€89°167) £89°'162 = - 3 - D0 LA 12 SJ9SSe |BIDUBLLY JO S[BS UO SS07
8GZ'CEL'S [4 Rk 925’198’y 618292,  (gye'ovr'n)y - - 3 - Jeaf ay) 1o swooul / (850)) aaIsUsyRIdWOS 10 |
(6¥E'90¥'2) - (eye'oov'e) - (6pe'o0r'er - = - - Jeah sy} 10} $30| SAISUBYRIALIOD JBYIO
109°685°2 ceL' e G/8'48Z°2 G/8'/92'2 - - - - - JBaA ay) 10} Joid
(8vz'pro'sy  (088'21) (86£'986's)  (1qg'ze6'9)  {81Z'spL’L) - 21zze's - - SIBUMO U] YILM SUCKIBSLIEL]
(oe0'022'0) - (oe9'0zL'2)  (969°024'T) - - - - - (67 210U) USINALISIP SPUSPIAIR YSED)
- - - (zzo'cie'y)  (295'¥RT) = 696165y - - (62 210U} SUCYNqUISIP Seleys snuog
l8g'egs'zL - 189'9ES'ZL - (959'099) E leetee'el - - seleys Anseal} Jo o|eg
(BoL'cLP'GL)y - BOL'SLVGL) - - - (60L'¢L¥'s)) - - ssleys Aunsea)) Jo aseYINg
(rz5'9L) (068°27) 99¢c'1L9 99¢'1L9 - : - - - AleIpIsgns e uj jsa1a)ul [2UOLIPPE Jo UcliSINboE Uo Ues)
8/5'6/G2C)L  €¥E0LL'P GEZ'60V'ECL ¥TI'P/8'9C  (b28'GSR'GL) JOP'bO6'ZZ (692'GE2G)  16L'GZH'C  Q0G'OCLYE ZzZ0z Aenuep | je aoueqeq

aM ax aM as ax aM aM a¥ aM
(ej03 sBuluiea Aynbs jo saAlasal saleys wniwaad leydes
qng paudiejay  susuodwos Aejunjoa Ansealny aleys aleyg
PRI TS pue
faoymerg
leor sysosopul Auedwog Juaied ayj JO SIBUMO B} O3 B|qeINGURE AJINbg
Bujonuos
~UON

(penupuos) Aynba u) sebueyd Jo Juswiajels pajepijosuo

ET0T Ioqruadag LE
SIUBLWIIJELS |BISUBUL] pajepIjosuer
SIUBIPISHNG pue 9g5dM — Auediuo) a3e3sy (RO} HeMNY



Kuwait Beal Estate Company - KPS0 and Subsidlaries

Consolidated Financial Statements
31 Becember 2023

Consolidated statement of cash flows

10

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec 31 Dec
Notes 2023 2022
KD KD
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 12,258,751 7,639,607
Adjustments:
Depreciation 229,241 32,583
Finance costs 10,924,254 8,232,452
Change in fair value of investment properties 18 6,487,329 5,594,586
{Gain) / loss on sale of investment properties 18.3 {10,958,893) 19,062
Change in fair value of properties under development 17 (45,790} (1,296,849}
Loss on sale of trading properties 14 - 111,752
Share of results of associates 15.2 (398,451} (2,394,021)
Loss on disposal of associate 15.1.2 120,000 -
Change in fair value of financial agsets at FVTPL {758,535) 207,806
lLoss / (gain) on sale of financial assets at FYTPL 28,233 {9,813)
Provision charge for doubtful debts 13 150,927 931,145
Provision reversal for tax claims of foreign subsidiary - {101,282}
Dividend income {362,354) {420,308)
Provision charge for employees’ end of service benefits 35,408 141,505
17,710,120 18,588,235
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable and other assets {4,791,779) (1,664,675}
Due from related parties (2,198,194) 1,207,085
Accounts payable and other liabilities {1,808,582) 1,190,853
Due to related parties (2,223,267} (2,672,760)
Employees’ end of service benefits paid {225,405) {14,031)
Net cash from operating activities 6,462,893 16,627,707
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment (1,824,051) (800,710)
Additions to capital work in progress 77,835 1,701,406
Additions to properties under development 17 (2,935,874} (1,366,928)
Additions to investment properties 18 (7,043,457} {28,043,448)
Proceeds from sale of investment properties 16,469,905 448,665
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL (3,422,603) {133,775
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVTPL 11,692 258,452
Purchase of financial assets at FVTOCI {31,840,877) {15,570,528)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVTOCI 27,304,952 13,981,792
Additions / capital contribution in associates 15.2 {158,204) {1,309,609)
Dividend received from associates 15.2 37,266 73,266
Proceeds from sale of trading properties - 459,450
Restricted bank batances 11 {1,293) 41,369
Term deposits maturing after 3 months i (80,916) 408,804
Dividend income received 362,354 420,308
Net cash used in investing activities (3,043,271) {30,325,486)

The notes sof ost om pages 12 19 65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statoments.



Kuowait Head Fstate Company - KPS and Subsidlaries

Consolidated Financial Statements
31 Becormber 2023

Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec 31 Dec
Notes 2023 2022
KD KD

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net change in borrowings 22 20,121,685 33,379,916
Finance costs paid {10,571,088) {7,243,976)
Lease liabilities paid 21 (8,232,000} (11,968,210)
Net movement in treasury shares (4,928,244} (2,521,217)
Dividends paid (2,608,103) {2,592,803)
Net cash {used in} / from financing activities (6,217,750} 9,053.710
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,798,128) (4,644,069}
Foreign currency adjustments (190,957) £125,008)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 11 4,427,553 9,196,630
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11 1,438,468 4,427 553
Material non-cash transactions:

Decrease in advance payments to purchase investments - (17,230,565}
Increase in investment properties - 15,332,507
Increase in due from related parties - 3,825,058
Proceeds from sale of investment properties (8,430,803} {2,999,593}
Increase in accounts receivable and other assets 8,430,803 1,072,583
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 7.5 1,405,000 -
Due from related parties 7.5 (1,405,000} -

The notes set ont on pages 12 to 65 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Kuwait Real Estate Company — KPEC and Subzidiavies
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2023

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Incorporation and activities of the Parent Company
Kuwait Real Estate Company — KPSC (“the Parent Company™) was incorporated in 1972 as a Kuwaiti public
shareholding company in accordance with the provisions of the Companics Law in the State of Kuwait,

The Parent Company’s shares are listed on Bonrsa Kuwait.

'I'he Group comprises the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”). The
details of the subsidiaries are described in Note 7,

The ptincipal activities of the Parent Company atc as follows:

- Carry out various real estate works for achieving profit, including sale, purchase, renting out and leasing of
lands and real cstate properties, erect buildings, prepare and implement studics of the private and public
real estate projects ditectly or through mediation whether in Kuwait or abroad.

- Carry out various building wotks and related works whether for its account or for the account of third
parties and import, trade in all materials related to real estatc and other works related or necessary thereto.

- TInvest in companies’ shares ot projects similar to the company’s objectives or manage and direct such
institutions in such a way that achieves interest,

- Build housing whether for citizens or government employees or the employees of official or private
authorities against receiving their value from them either in cash or on installments.

- Carry out contracting works in general whether ditectly or through participation with other contracting
companies of representing same.

- Manage others’ propertics in Kuwait and abroad.

- Erect private and public buildings and projects, including malls, entertainment centers, touristic utilities
and implement them directly or through third parties in Kuwait or abroad and rent out or sell same in cash
or on installments after approval by the competent authoritics.

- Create, manage ot share third parties in rcal estate investment funds only whether in ICuwait or abroad to
employ and invest funds on behalf of others after approval by the competent authorities.

- Do various real estatc works for achieving profit, including acquisition, sale and purchase of lands and real
estate properties and develop them for the account of the company inside and outside Kuwait, rent out
and lease same and erect buildings.

- Prepare studies and provide consultations in all kinds of real estate fields, provided the requited terms and
conditions are met by those who offer this service.

- Acquite, sell and purchase shares and bonds of the companics or projects similar to the company’s
objectives or manage such institutions and direct same in such a way that achieves intcrest.

- Acquire movables and rcal estate propertics necessary to conduct its activity within the limits permitted by
the law and in compliance with its objectives.

- Perform maintenance works related to the buildings and properties owned by the company and others,
including civil, mechanical and electrical wotks, elevators and air conditioning works in such 2 way that
maintains buildings and their safety.

- Organize real estate exhibitions for the company's real cstate projects.

- Hold real estate auctions.

- Utilize the surplus funds available with the company by investing same in financial portfolios managed by

specialized companies and entities inside and outside Kurwait.

Contribute directly to set out the basic structure of the residential, commercial areas and projects by

“Building, Operation & Transfer" (BOT) system and manage the real estate utilities by BO'L system.
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1 Incorporation and activities of the Parent Company (continued)

"I'he Parent Company has the right to petform the above-mentioned activitics inside and outside the State of
Kuwait directly or through an agent. The Parent Company may have an interest or participate in any aspect
with the entities performing similar works ot which might assist it in the achievement of its objectives in Kuwait
ot abroad. The Parent Company may also establish or share or purchase these entities or affiliate them
therewith.

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is PO Box 1257, Safat 13013, State of Kuwait.

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 were authorised for issue by the
Parent Company’s board of directors on 30 March 2024. The general assembly of the Parent Company’s
sharcholders has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after issuance.

2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under histotical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair valuc through other comprehensive income,
properties under development and investment properties that have been measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars {“IKD”) which is the functional
and presentation currency of the Parent Company.

The Group has elected to present the “consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income” in two statements: the “consolidated statement of profit or loss” and the “consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprchensive income™.

3 Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

4 Changes in accounting policies

4.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The following new amendments or standards were cffective for the cutrent period.

Standard or Interpreiation Effective for annual periods beginning
TAS 1 Amendments- Disclosure of accounting policies 1 Janunary 2023
IAS 8 Amendments- Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023

[AS 12 Amendments- Income taxes- Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities atising from a single transaction 1 January 2023
IAS 12 Amendments- International Tax Reform-Pillar Two Model Rules 1 January 2023

IAS 1 Amendments and IFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of accounting policies

The amendments to IAS 1 requitc entities to disclose material accounting policics instead of significant
accounting policies to assist entities to provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful. The
amendments clarify that accounting policy information may be matcrial becausc of its nature, even if the related

amounts are immaterial.

The adoption of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

staterncnts.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

4 Changes in accounting policies {continued)
4.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IAS 8 Amendments — Definition of accounting estimates
The amendments to IAS 8 inserted the definition of accounting estimates replacing the definition of a change
in accounting estimates. Accounting estimates arc now defined as monetary amounts in financial statements

that are subject to measurement uncertainty.

The adoption of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

IAS 12 Amendments — Income taxes- Defetred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single

transaction

'The amendments to IAS 8§ provide an excmption from the initial recoguition exenption provided in TAS 12.15(b)
and TAS 12.24. Accordingly, the initial recognition exemption docs not apply to transactions 1n which equal
amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition.

The adoption of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements,

TAS 12 Amendments — International Tax Reform-Pillar Two Model Rules
The amendments introduce the following:

e an cxception to the requirements in the standard that an cntity does not recognise and does not disclose
infotmation about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to the OECD pillar two income faxes;

¢ an entity applics the exception disclose that it has applied the cxception immediatcly upon issuance of the
amendments;

e adisclosure requirement that an entity has to disclosc separately its current tax expense (income) related to
pillar two income taxes;

s adisclosute requirement that state that in periods in which pillar two legislation is enacted ot substantively
enacted, but not yet in effect, an entity discloses known or reasonably estimable information that helps
users of financial statements understand the entity’s exposure to pillar two income taxes arising from that

legislation;

The adoption of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and
interptetations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not

been adopted early by the Group.

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on new
standards, amendments and interpretations that are cxpected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements is provided below. Cettain other new standards and interpretations have becn issued but
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.2 TASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Standard or Interpretation Eiffective for annual periods beginning

IFRS 10 and TAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Asscts between an Investor

and its Associate ot Joint Venture - Amendments No stated date
IAS 1 Amendments- Classification of liabilities with debt covenants 1 January 2024
IAS 1 Amendments- Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2024
IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Amendments -Supplier finance arrangement disclosures 1 January 2024
IAS 21 Amendments — Lack of cxchangeability 1 January 2025
IFRS 16 Amendments- Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture - Amendments

The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and TAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale ot contribution of assets from an investor to its assoclate
ot joint venture, as follows:

¢ require full recognition in the investor's financial statcments of gains and losses atising on the sale ot
contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Busimess Combinations)

®  require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a gain
ot loss is recognized only to the extent of the untelated investors’ interests in that associate ot joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution
of asscts occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of
control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, catly
implementation is allowed. Management anticipates that the application of these amendments may have an
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in future should such transactions arisc.

IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of liabilities with debt covenants

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify that classification of liabilities as cutrent ot non-cuurrent depends only on the
covenants that an entity is required to comply with on ox before the reporting date. In addition, an entity has
to disclose information in the notes that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk that non-

current labilities with covenants could become repayable within twelve months.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify the classification of a liability as cither current or non-current is based on the
entity’s rights at the end of the reporting period. Stating management expectations around whether they will
defer settlement ot not does not impact the classification of the liability. Tt has added guidance about lending
conditions and how these can impact classification and has included requirements for liabilitics that can be

settled using an entity’s own instruments.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant

impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.2 TASB Standards issued but not yet cffective (continued)

IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Amendments — Suppliet finance arrangements disclosures

The amendments to TAS 7 and IFRS 7 added disclosurc objectives to TAS 7 to cnable the users of the financial
statements (o assess how the supplier finance arrangements cffect an entity’s liabilities and cash flows, and to
undetstand the effect of these arrangements on an entity’s exposure to liquidity risk and how the entity might
be affected if the arrangements were no longer available to it. While the amendments do not cxplicitly define
supplier finance atrangements it instead describes characteristics of such arrangements.

To meet the disclosure objectives, an cntity will be required to disclose in aggregate for its supplier finance
arrangements:

e The terms and conditions of the arrangements

* The catrying amount, and associated line items presented in the entity’s statement of financial position, of
the liabilities that are part of the arrangements

® The carrying amount, and associated linc items for which the suppliers have already receved payment
from the finance providers

* Ranges of payment due dates for both those financial liabilities that are part of a supplier finance
arrangement and comparable trade payables that are not part of a supplier finance arrangement

e  Liquidiry risk information

The amendments, which contain specific transition reliefs for the first annual reporting period in which an
entity applies the amendments, are applicable for annual reporting petiods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Management will make required disclosures in the consolidated financial statements when the amendments
become effective.

1AS 21 Amendments — Lack of exchangeability
The amendments to IAS 21 addresses determination of exchange rate when there is long term lack of

exchangeability, The amendments:

o  Specify when a cutreney is exchangeable into another currency. A currency is exchangeable when an cntity
is able to exchange that currency for the other currency through markets or exchange mechanisms that
create enforccable rights and obligations without undue delay at the measurement date and for a specified
purpose. A currency is not exchangeable into the other currency if an entity can only obtain an insignificant
amount of the other currency.

»  Specify how an entity determincs the exchange rate to apply when a currency is not cxchangeable when a
currency is not exchangeable at the measurement date, an entity cstimates the spot exchange rate as the
rate that would have applied to an ordetly transaction between matket participants at the measurement
date and that would faithfully reflect the economic conditions prevailing,

¢ Rcquire the disclosure of additional information when a currency is not exchangeable. If a cutrency is not
cxchangeable, an entity discloses information that would enable uscts of its financial statcments to evaluate
how a currency’s lack of exchangeability affects, or is expected to affect, its financial performance, financial

position and cash flows.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.2 TASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Amendments —~ Lease liability in a sale and leasecback

The amendments to IFRS 16 requires a seller-lessee to measure the right-of-use asset arising from a sale and
leaseback transaction at the proportion of the previous catrying amount of the asset that relates to the right of
use the seller-lessec retains. Accordingly, in a sale and leaseback transaction the seller-lessee recognises only the
amount of any gain or loss that relates to the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor. The initial measurement of
the lease liability that atise from a sale and leaseback transaction is a consequence of how the scller-lessee
measures the right-of-use asset and the gain or loss recognised at the date of the transaction, The new
tequirements do not prevent a seller-lessce from recognising in any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of a lease.

Management docs not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidared financial statements.

5 Material accounting policies
The material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of consolidated financial statements are set out

below:

5.1 Basis of consolidation

The Group controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for reporting dates which are typically not more than three months
from that of the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments arc made for the effect of
any significant transactions ot events that occur between that date and the repotting date of the Parent
Company’s financial statements.

All transactions and balances between Group’s companies are eliminated on conselidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between Group’s companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset
sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective.
Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and other comprehcnsive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

Non-controlling intercsts, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and
net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of
subsidiaries between the owners of the Parent Company and the non-controlling interests based on their

respective ownership interests.

When a controlling interest in the subsidiaties is disposed of, the difference between the selling ptice and the
net asset value plus cumulative translation difference and goodwill is recognised in the consolidated statcment

of profit or loss,

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Material accounting policies {continued)

5.1 Basis of consolidation {continued)
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling intercsts are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equiry and attributed to the owners of the Parent

Company.

5.2 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
valucs of assets transferred, Habilities incurred and the equity intetcsts issued by the Group, which includes the
fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are
expensed as incurred. Tor each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in
the acquirec cither at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquiret’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition.
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fait values.

When the Group acquites a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition datc. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by

the acquiree.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assers. It is calcalated as the excess of the
sum of i) fair value of consideration transferred, if) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and iii) acquisition-date fair valuc of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-
date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated
above, the cxcess amount (ie gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in consolidated statement of profit of

loss immediately.

5.3 Climate-related matters

The Group considers climate-related matters in estimates and assumptions, where appropriate. Risks induced
by climate changes include transition risks (e.g. regulatory changes and reputational risks) and physical risks due
to weather related events (e.g. storms, wildfites, rising sea levels). The Group has not identified significant risks
induced by climate changes that could negatively and materially affect the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, Management continuously assesses the impact of climate-related matters.

5.4 Revenue
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects fo be entitled in a contract with

a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

The Group follows a 5-step process:

1 Identifying the contract with a customer

2 Identifying the performance obligations

3 Determining the transaction price

4 Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5 Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied,
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5 Material accounting policies (continued)

5.4 Revenue (continued)
The total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on

behalf of third parties.

541 Rendering of services
Membership fees to the health club ate tecognised overtime over the period of membership.

5.5 Rental income
Rental income is recognised on accrual basis.

5.6 Dividend
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established.

5.7 Interest and similar income
Intetest and similar income atc recognised on accrual basis using the cffective interest method

5.8 Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recogniscd in consolidated statement of profit of loss upon utilisation of the service ot

at the date of their occurrence,

59 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset ate
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale, Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

5,10  Taxation

5.10.1 National Labour Supporting tax
The National Labour Support Tax (NI.ST) is calculated at 2.5% of the profit for the year attributable to the
owners of the Parent Company in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 24 for the year 2006

and Law No. 19 for the year 2000.

5.10.2 Zakat
Conttibution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent

Company in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December
2007.

5.10.3 Kuinwair Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group in accordance with the modified
calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that income from Kuwaiti
shareholding associates and subsidiary, Board of Directors’ remuneration; transfer to statutory reserve should
be excluded from profit for the year when determining the contribution.

5.10.4 Income tax
Cutrent income tax asscts and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, tax authorities

relating to the current ot prior reporting petiod, that arc unpaid at the repotting date.
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5 Material accounting policies (continued)
510  Taxation (continued)

5.10.4 Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. Deferred tax is generally
tax is, however, neither provided on the initial recognition of goodwill, nor on the initial recognition of an asset
or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.

In addition, tax losses available to be carricd forward as well as other income tax credits arc assessed for
recognition as deferred tax asscts.

Defetred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that ate expected to apply to
their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. Deferrcd tax assets are recogniscd.

5.11 Leased assets

The Group ar a Jerree

For any new contracts entered into, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lcase. A lease is
defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the undetlying asset) for a
petiod of time in exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract mects three key evaluations which are whether:

+ the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group

»  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the ecconomic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the detied scope of the contract

+ the Group has the right to direct the usc of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout

the period of use.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical
expedients. Instead of recognising a tight-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

Measutement and recognition of leases as a lessee
Atlease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use assct and a lease liability on the balance shect

measured as follows:

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use assct is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial mcasurement of the lease liability, any
initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the assetat the cnd
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (nct of any incentives

received).

Subsequent to initial measurement, the Group accounts for its right-of-use assets as investment properties
carried at fair value. These values are supported by market evidence and are determined by external professional
valuers with sufficicnt experience with respect to both the location and the nature of the investment property.
Any gain or loss resulting from cither a change in the fair value is immediately recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
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5 Material accounting policies (continued)
511  Leased assets (continued)
The Gronp as a lessee (continued)

Leare Labifity

At the commencement date, the Group measurcs the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate,

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments {including 1n
substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee and payments arising from options rcasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability is reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It 1s
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, of if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
When the lease liability is remeasured, the cotresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, ot
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Gronp as a lesior

The Group cnters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment propertes. The
Group classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. When the terms of 2 lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as finance lease. All other leases

are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head-lease and sub-lease as two separate contacts,
The sub-lease is classified as finance lease or operating lease by refercnce to the right-of-use of asset arising

from the head-lease.,

Rental income from operating leascs is recognised on a straight-line basis over lease term. Initial direct cost
incutred in arranging and negotiating a lease are added to the carrying amount of the leasc assets and recognised
on 2 straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due under finance leases are recognised as receivables. Finance lease income is allocated to the
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic ratc of retarn on the Group’s net investment outstanding

for the finance lease.

512  Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The

Group depreciates its property and equipment using the straight-line method at rates sufficient to write off the
assets over their estimated useful economic lives, The residual value, uscful lives and methods of depreciation
are reviewcd, and adjusted if appropriate at cach financial year end.

5.13  Investment ptoperties

Investment propectties are measurcd initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes
the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition
criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day to day setvicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting
date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment propertics are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Hair values ate estimated by
management with the assistance of valuation provided by accredited external valuers,
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5 Material accounting policies (continued)

5.13 Investment properties (continued)
Investment propertics are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment

property is permanently withdrawn from usc and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The
difference berween the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit ot loss in the period of derecognition.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to ownet occupied propetty, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting 1s the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner occupied propetty becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change
1 use,

514  Investment properties under development

Investment properties under development represents property held for future use as investment property and
is initially measured at cost. Subsequently, property under development are carried at fair value that is
determined based on valuation performed by independent valucr at the end of each year using valuation
methods consistent with the market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses from change in the far
value ate recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If the Group determines that the fair value of an investment property under development is not reliably
determinable but expects the fair value of the property to be rcliably determinable when construction is
complete, the Group measures that investment property under devclopment at cost until either its fair value
become reliably determinable or devclopment is completed (whichever is earliet).

Investment propertics under developments are classified as non-current assets, unless otherwise specified.

515  Trading properties

Trading properties are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs are those expenscs incurred
in btinging each property to its present condition including the identified finance cost. Net realizable valuc is
bascd on estimated selling price less any further cost expected to be incurred on completion and disposal.

5.16  Capital work in progress
Capiral work in progress is carried at cost less impairment in value (if any). Costs are those expenses incurred
by the Group that are directly attributable to the construction of assct. Once completed, the asset is rransferred

to the respective assets class.

The carrying values of capital work in progress are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the catrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and wherc the
catrying values exceed the cstimated recoverable amount, the assets ate written down to their recoverable

atnount,

517  Investment in associates
Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither

subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently
accounted for using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share
in the associate is not recognised separately and is included in the amount tccognised as investment in

associates.
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5.17  Investment in associates (continued)

Under the equity method, the catrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted
where necessaty to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses arc climinated, the

undetlying asset 1s also tested for impairment.

The difference in reporting dates of the associates and the Group is not more than three months. Adjustments
are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. The associate’s accounting policies conform to thosc used by the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining
investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5,18  Impairment testing of non-financial asscts

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s catrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fait valuc less costs to sell and value-in-use. To dctermine
the value-in-use, managcment estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-gencrating unit and
determincs a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for
impaitment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary
to cxclude the effects of future reorganisations and assct enhancements. Discount factors arc determined
individually for each cash-gencrating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such
as market and asset-specific risks factors.

Impairment losses for cash-gencrating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that
cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is chatged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-
generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all asscts are subsequently reassessed for indications that an
impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-
generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

5.19 Financial instruments

5.19.1 Recognition, initial immeasurement and detecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by directly attributable
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit ot loss which are measured initially at
fait value. Subsequent measurcment of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a patt of financial asset or part of Group of similar financial assets) is

derecognised when:

° rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expited;
» the Group has transferred its rights to reccive cash flows from the asset ot has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a

‘pass through’ arrangement and either
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5,19  Financial instruments (continued)

5.19.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition (continized)

(a)  the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or
(b)  the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the
asset but has transfetred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
When it has ncither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has

retained.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantally modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
cartying amounts is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.19.2 Classification of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classificd into the following categoties upon

initial recognition:

* financial assets at amortised cost
* financial assets at fair value through Other Comptehensive Income (I'VTOCI)
« financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVIPL)

The classification is determined by both:

* the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset
+ the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

The Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:

* the Group may irrevocably elcct to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other

comprehensive income if certain criteria are met and
» the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost ot FVTOCI criteria as

measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

519.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets

. Financial assets ar arnortised cost
Financial assets arc measured at amortised cost if the assets mect the following conditions (and are not

designated as FVTPL):
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5.19  Financial insttuments (continued)

5.19.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

* Financial assets at amortised cost (continucd)

* they arc held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual

cash flows

+ the contractual terms of the financial assets oive tise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
gt ¥ pay P p

interest on the ptincipal amount outstanding

Afrer initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the cffective interest rate mcthod, less
provision for impairment, Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immatertal.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of the following:

- Cash and carh eqnivalents
Cash and cash cquivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in portfolios, term deposits and bank balances which

are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

- Avcounis receivable and other assets
Accounts receivable and other assets are stated at original amount less allowance for any uncollectible amounts.

An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts

are written off as curred

- Due from related parties
Duc from related patties are financial assets originated by the Group by providing money directly to the
borrower that have fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market.

. Financial assets at FVIOCT
The Group accounts for financial assets at FY FOCT if the assets meet the following conditions:

» they are held under a business model whose objective it is “hold to collect” the associated cash flows and sell;

and
» the contractual terms of the financial assets give tise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding,

Any gains ot losses recognised in other comprchensive income will be recycled to the cons olidated statement
of profit or loss upon derecognition of the asset {except for equity investments at FVTOCI as detailed below).

Equity invertments at FIVTOCT

The Group’s equity investments at FVOTCI compriscs of investments in equity shares, debt instruments and
funds. Investment is equity shares include both quoted and unquoted.
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5.19.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
* Financial assets ar FVIOCI (condinued)

Eguity investments at 'V TOCT (continued)

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable clection {on an instrument-by-instrument basis} to
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquircr in a business

combination,
A financial assct is held for trading if:

* it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the ncar terny; or

* on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identificd financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has evidence of a recent actoal pattern of short-term profit-taking; ot

* it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective

hedging mstrument).
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs,

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses atising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cumulative changes n fair value tcserve, The
cumulative gain or loss is transferred to retained earnings within the consolidated statement of changes in

cquity.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss.

Debt instrumenty at FVTOCT

The Group measures debt instruments at FVTOCI when both of the following conditions are met:

e The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets
¢ The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPT test

Debt instruments at FVTOCI ate subsequently measutred at fair value and gains and losses arising due to
changes in fair value are recognised in other comprchensive income. Interest income and foteign exchange
gains or losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehen sive income.
On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recogniscd in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, The
management of the Group classifies the debt instruments under debt sccurities at FVTOCL

. Financial assets at FVIPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for measurement at amortised cost or FVTOCT are categorised at

fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest arc accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial
instruments fall into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which
the hedge accounting requirements apply. The category also contains investments in equity shares.
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5.19.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

. Financial assets at FVIPL (continued)

Assets in this catcgory are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The fair values of financial asscts in this category are determined by reference to active market
transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market exists.

The Group’s financial assets at FVITPL comprise investments in equity instruments.

5.19.4 Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets except for those at FVTPIL and equity investments at FVTOCI are subject to review for
impairment at lcast at each reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a Group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each
categoty of financial assets, which arc described below.

The Group recognises a loss allowarnce for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets at amortised cost
or at EVI'OCL

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
teceive. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk

since initial recognition of the respective financial asset.

The measurcment of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default} and the exposurc at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial asscts, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount

at the reporting date.

The Gtoup always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix hased on the Group’s
historical credit loss expetience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the repotting

date, including time value of money where approptiate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECI. when there has been 2 significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the ctedit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial

instrument at an amount cqual to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. Tn contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the

teporting date.
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519  Financial instruments (continued)

5.19.4 Impaitment of financial assets (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in the conselidated statement of profit or loss for all financial
assets with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the
carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to liteime ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

5.19.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial Jrabilitics
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, accounts payable and other liabilities, due 1o related parties
and due to banks.

Thc subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classificatton as follows:

* Financial Habilities ar amortised cost
These are stated using effective interest ratc method. Due to banks, accounts payable and other liabilities, due
to related parties and botrowings are classified as financial labilities other than at FVIPL.

Bormowengs

- Bunk loans and due fo banks
Bank loans and due to bank are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate

method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method (ETR) amortisation process.

- Murababa payable, Tawaroq payable and Wakala payable
Murabaha payable, Tawaroq payable and Wakala payable represents amounts payable on a deferred settlement

basis for assets purchased under Murabaha, Tawaroq and Wakala payable arrangements. Murabaha payable,
Tawaroq payable, and Wakala payable are stated at the gross amount of the payable, net of deferred finance cost.
Deferrcd finance cost is expensed on a time apportionment basis taking into account the bottowing rate

attributable and the balance outstanding.
All the profit-related charges are included within finance costs.

Acconnts payable and other liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services

received, whether billed or not,

Due to related parties
Due to telated parties are financial liabilities arising in the nozmal courses of the business and are not quoted

in an active market,
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5.20 Amortised cost of financial instruments
This is computed using the cffective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes
into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integtal

patt of the effective interest rate.

521  Trade and settlement date accounting

All ‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial asscts are recognised on the trade date ie. the date that the
entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

5.22  Offsetting of financial instruments :

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently cnforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
thete is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the Habilities simultaneously.

5.23  Fair value of financial instrtuments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for shorr
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
fair value of another instrament that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation

models.

5.24  Equity, reserves and dividend payments
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums reccived on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with
the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.

Statutory and voluntary reserves comptise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance with
the requirements of the commercial companies’ law and the Parent Company’s memorandum of ncorporation

and articles of incorporation.
Other components of equity include the following:

*  Forcign currency translation reserve - comprises foreign cutrency translation differences arising from the
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into Kuwait Dinar.

+  Cumulative changes in fair valuc — comprises gains and losses relating to financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income and Group’s share of cumulative change in fait value rescrve of

associates.

«  Treasury shares reserve — comprises gains and losses resulting from sales of treasury sharcs.

Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained profit and loss. All transactions with owners of
the Parent Company are recorded separately within equity.
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5.24  Equity, reserves and dividend payments (continued)
Dividend distributions payable to cquity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have

been approved the General Assembly of shareholders.

5.25  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilitics

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic tesources will be required from the Group and amounts can
be estimated reliably. Timing ot amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions arc measured at the estimated expenditure required to seitle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the
present obligation. Where there are a number of similat obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlement is determined by consideting the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are
discounted to their present valucs, where the time value of moncy is material.

Contingent asscts are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources cmbodying economic benefits is remote.

5.26  Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group
and not vet reissued or cancelled. Treasury shares are accounted for under cost method. Under this method,
the weighted average cost of the shares reacquited is charged to a contra account in equity. Treasury shares are
not entitled to cash dividends that the Group may distribute. The issuc of stock dividend shares increases the
number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total

cost of treasury shares.

When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are recorded dircctly in “Treasury shares reserve” in the

shareholders’ equity. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on
that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained carnings then to the voluntary rescrve and legal resetve.
Subsequent to this, should profits arise from sale of treasury shares an amount is transferted to reserves and
retained earnings equal to the loss previously charged to this account.

5.27  Segment reporting
‘The Group has three operating segments: real estate, investment and services. In identifying these operating

segments, management generally follows the Group’s significant services for each segment. Each of these
operating segments is managed separately as each requires different approaches and other resources. All inter-

sepment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.
o1

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurcment policies as those used in its financial
staternents. In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any

operating scgment are not allocated to a segment.
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5.28  TForeign currency translation

5.28.1 Functionial and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements arc presented in Kuwait Dinar (KD), which is also the functional
cutrency of the Parent Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

5.28.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign cutrency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot cxchange rate). Foreign cxchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items
denominated in foreign currency at yeat-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary
items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at histotical cost (iranslated using the exchange tates at
the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

5.28.3 Foreign operations
In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with 2 functional
currency other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional currency of the entities

in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting petiod.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign cntity have been treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been
translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are charged/credited to
other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity arc
reclassified to profit or loss and are recogniscd as patt of the gain or loss on disposal.

5.29  End of service indemnity

The Group provides end of service bencfits to its employees. The entitlement to these bencfits is based upon the
employecs’ final salary and length of setvice, subject to the completion of 2 minimum setvice petiod in accordance
with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the
period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a

result of termination on the reporting date

In addition, with respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group makes contributions to the Public
Institution for Social Security calculated as a percentage of the cmployees’ salaries. These contributons are

expensed when duc.

6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty

‘The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
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6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
{continued)
6.1 Significant management judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts rccognised in the consolidated financial

statements:

6.1.1  Business model assessment

The Group classifies financial assets after performing the business model test. This test includes judgement
reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance
measured and the risks that affect the performance of the asscts, Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous
assessment of whether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be
appropriate and if it is not approptiate whether there has been a change in business model and so 2 prospective
change to the classification of those assets.

6.12  Classification ofreal estate

Management decides on acquisition of a real cstate whether it should be classified as trading, property under
development ot investment property. Such judgement at acquisition determines whether these properties ate
subsequently measured at cost or net realisable value whichever is lower or fair value and if the changes in fair
value of these properties ate reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the otdinary coursc of
business. And if such properties are under development with an intention of being sold in futurc they are
classified under trading properties under devclopment.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income ot for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use. And if such properties are under development they are classified
under investment properties under development.

6.1.3  Control assessment

When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to dircct the
relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itsclf. The assessment of relevant activitics
and ability to usc its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement

6.1.4  Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
The determination of the fair value of the assets, liabilitics and contingent liabilitics as a result of busincss

combination tequires significant judgement.

6.15 Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of petformance oblivations

‘I'he determination of the whether or not performance obligation criteria set out in TFRS 15 relating to transfer
of control of goods and services to customers has been satisfied requires significant judgement.

6.1.6 Significant influence

Significant influence exists when the size of an entity’s own voting tights relative to the size and dispersion of
othet vote holders, give the entity the practical ability unilaterally to direct the relevant activities of the company.

6.2 Estimates uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and

measurement of asscts, liabilitics, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially
different
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6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
6.2 Estimates uncertainty (continued)

6.2.1 Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is nccessary to recognisc any
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at cach reporting datc based on
cxistence of any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. Tf this is the case the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
catrying valuc and recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

6.2.2 Immpaivment of financial assets

Measutement of estimated credit losses involves estimates of loss given default and probability of default. Loss
given default is an estimate of the loss atising in case of default by customer. Probability of defaultis an estimate
of the likelihood of default in the future. The Group based these cstimates using reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic
dtivers and how these drivers will affect each other.

An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable is made when collection of the full amount
is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis.
Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision
applied according to the length of time past due, based on historical recovery rates.

6.2.3  Usetul lives of depreciable assets
Management revicws its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the
expected utility of the assets. Uncertaintics in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change

the utility of certain software and equipment.

6.24 Business combinations
Management uses valuation techniques in detcrmining the fair values of the various clements of a business
combination. Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the outcome of many

variables that affect future profitability.

6.2.5  Fair value of financial instruments

Management apply valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where active market
quotes ate not available. This requires management to develop cstimates and assumptions based on market
inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such data 1s
not obsetvable, management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary
from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

6.26 Revaluation of investment properties and investment properties under development

The Group catries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine
fair values and the valuers have used valuation techniques to arrive at these fair values. These estimated fair
values of investment properties may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length

transaction at the reporting date.

Where the Group determines that the fair value of an investment propetties under development is not reliably
determinable but expects the fair value of the property to be reliably determinable when consttuction is
complete, the Group measures these investment properties under development at cost un (il efther its fair value
become reliably determinable or development is completed (whichever is earliet). When the fair value becomes
reliably measurable, the fair value of such properties may vary from the actual cost.
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7

Name

Subsidiary companies

Country of Ownership Principal
of subsidiary incorporation Percentage activity
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022

Directly owned subsidiaries:
Habara Pearl Farm Gompany (7.1) USA 100% 100% Investment
Al-Agdain Kuwaiti for Real Estate Development Co — KSGC

(7.2) Kuwait 99.99%  99.99%  Real estate

Financial Group of Kuwait Co. — KSC (Holding) (7.2) Kuwait 99.99%  99.98% Investment

Cayman
KREC Meeker Debt Company Limited (7.1} Islands 100% 100% Investment
Cayman

KREC Meeker Equity Company Limited (7.1) Islands 100% 100% Investment

IFA Hotels and Resorts Co. — S.A.L {Lebanon) (7.1 & 7.3) Lebanen 100% 100% Real estate

Al-Fereej International Real Estate Co. — WLL (7.2) Kuwait 99% 99% Real estate

Al Mottahida General Investment — LLC (7.1, 7.2 & 7.8) UAE 99% 99% Real estate

Al Durrar General Investment — LLC (7.1, 7.2 & 7.8) UAE 99% 99% Real estate

International Resorts Company - KSC Kuwait 70.27%  70.27%  Real estate

Cayman
Aqarat th8 Investment LTD (7.1 & 7.8) Islands 100% 100% Real Estate
Active Holding Company — KSC (Closed) [Formerly: KREC
Holding Company — KSC {Closed)] (7.1) Kuwait 100% 100% Real Estate
Health
Institutes
Now Health Fitness Company - WLL {7.4) Kuwait - 100% Management
General
Assjad Al-Kuwait General Trading and Contracting Company Trading and
- WLL (7.5} Kuwait 51% 100% Contracting

KREC Real Estate Company - WLL {7.8) Kuwait 100% - Real Estate

Eradat International Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed)

(7.7) Kuwait 62.47% - Real Estate

7.1 The financial statements of subsidiaries have been consolidated based on financial statements prepared
by managements of these subsidiaries.

7.2 The remaining shates of these subsidiarics are held in the namc of related partics as nominees on behalf
of the Parent Company, who have confirmed in writing that the Parent Company is the beneficial
owner of these shares.

7.3 The Group’s subsidiary IFA Hotels and Resorts Co. — S.AL (“IFAHR Lebanon”) is located in

Lebanon which is currently witnessing significant economic and political turmoil. These events include
significant controls on the Lebanese banking system including placing limits on cash withdrawals of
foreign currency bank balances, limits on international bank transfers and reduction of contracted
interest rates on foreign currency term deposits. These events have significantly curtailed the ability of
the Group to access the cash and other assets of IFAHR T.ebanon. Moreover, the Government of
Lebanon defaulted on its sovereign debt obligation. The rating agencies have downgraded the
sovereign rating of Lebanon as well as some of the Lebanesc banks. Furthermore, the economy of

Lebanon in now considered witnessing hyperinflation.

Management has assessed the potential effects of these events on its ability to continue to excrcise
control over IFAHR Lebanon and concluded that it still has the power and ability to use that power
to affect returns and that it is still cxposed to variable retutns of the subsidiary. Accordingly, it continucs

to consolidate the subsidiary,
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7 Subsidiary companies {continued)

Management has also assesscd that the impact of these events on the carrying value of its investment in IFAHR
Lebanon is not material to the Group. Furthermore, the Group’s management belicves that the carrying value
of the Group’s investment in Lebanon is recoverable and there are cutrently no indications that any matetial

impairment loss is requited at 31 December 2023.

Summatised financial information of IFATIR Lebanon as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, before inter Group eliminations, is sct out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Cash and bank balances 42,526 41,233
Trading properties 8,163,775 8,151,197
Cther assels 988,812 1,031,611
Total assets 9,155,113 9,224,041
Borrowings - 1,853,631
Due to Parent Company 4,137,320 -
Accounts payable and other liabilities 149,885 2,288,567
Total liabilities 4,287,205 4,142,198
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec 31 Dec
2023 2022
KD KD
Revenue / {loss} 15,434 {3,859)
Loss for the year (112,143) (177,971)

7.4 During the year, the Parent Company transferred its ownership in Now Health Fitness Company -
WLL to one of its subsidiaties “Active Holding Company - IKSC™.

7.5 During the year, the Parent Company acquired the whole ownership interest of Assjad Al-IQuwait
General Trading and Contracting Company — WLL (“Assjad”) from one of its subsidiaties
“International Resorts Co. — KSC”. Subsequently, during the year, the Group entered into an
agteement with a related party for sale of 49% of its wholly owned subsidiary Assjad for a total
consideration of KID1,405,000 resulting into a gain of KD77,576 which has been recognised directly
in equity. The salc consideration has been settled against a balance due to that related party. The Group
continucs to classify this investment as investment in subsidiaty since management determined that
the Group continues to have the power to control the mvestee.

7.6 During the year, the Parent Company incorporated a new subsidiary “KREC Real Lstate Company —
WLI.” registered in Kuwait with 100% ownership.
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7

.7

7.8

Subsidiary companies (continued)

During the year, the Group acquired ownership interest of 62.47% of Fradat Intcrnational Real Estate
Company — KSCC “Eradat”, through solely participating in the increase of Eradat’s share capital, in-
kind, for an amount of IKID8,223,000. This in-kind increase of Eradat’s share capital represents the net
of the aggregate value of certain investment properties amounting to KI1>49,463,000 and bank facilities.
The transaction did not tesult into any goodwill or bargain purchase.

On 27 September 2023, the extraordinary gencral assembly of Eradat approved to reduce its
authorized, issued and paid-up share capital from KD6,798,697 to KID4,940,000 through write off
accumulated losses amounting to KD1,859,102 as of 30 junc 2023, and increasc its share capiral, in-
kind, from KD4,940,000 to KID13,163,000 by amount of KD8,223,000 for the Parent Company, On
14 November 2023, the Ministry of Commerce and Tndustry approved the increasing of the sharc
capital,

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance announced the implementation of a 9% Federal
Corporate Tax rate for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 June 2023. There is no impact of this
announcement on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year cnded 31 December
2023. Management will assess the implications of this Federal Corporate Tax in due course.

7.9 Subsidiaries with material non-conirolling interests
The Group includes the following subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests:

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting Profit f (loss) allocated to

Company name rights held by the NCI NCI Accumulated NCI
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2(22
% % KD KD KD KD
International Resorts Ca. — KSC 29.73% 28.73% 976,925 271,732 5,341,110 4,364,185
Eradat International Real Estate 37.53
Company — KSCC - (2,455} - 4,937,619 -
a) Summarised financial information for International Resorts Co. - KPSC, before intragroup eliminations, is
set out below:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Non-current assets 5,395,608 6,038,278
Current assets 20,274,855 21,859,826
Total assets 25,670,463 30,998,104
Non-current fiabilities 62,127 5,490,437
Current liabilities 7,572,228 6,810,948
Total liahilities 7,634,355 16,301,385
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 12,672,314 10,332,534
Equity attributable to the NCI 5,363,794 4,364,185

Total equity 18,036,108 14,666,719
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7 Subsidiary companies (continued)
7.9 Subsidiaries with material non-controliing interesiv (continned)
a) Summarised financial information for International Resorts Co, - KPSC, before intragroup eliminations,
is set out below: (continued)
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Revenue 5,617,506 5,313,097
Profit for the year attributable to the sharehclders of the Parent Company 2,308,052 641,986
Profit for the year attributable to NCI 976,925 271,732
Profit for the year 3,284,977 913,718
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the shareholders
of the Parent Company 2,250,396 642,481
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to NCI 952,559 271,941
Total comprehensive income for the year 3,202,955 914,422
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities 935,356 {4,618,184)
Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities 1,555,212 (45,083}
Net cash flow used in financing activities (3,420,000) (3,794,840}
Net cash flows (929,432) {8,458,107)

by Summarised financial information for Eradat International Real Lstate Company - K

intragroup climinations, is set out below:

Non-current assets

Current assets

SCC, before

31 Dec.
2023
KD

54,446,831
4,257

Total assets

54,451,088

Current lizbilities

41,294,630

Total liabilities

41,294,630

Net assets

13,156,458




Kuwait Real Estate Company — KPSC and Subsldiarion 38

Consolidated Financial Statements
31 Beceniber 2023

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Subsidiary companies {continued)
7.9 Subsidiaries with material now-controlfing interests (continsed)
b) Summarised financial information for Eradat Intetnational Real Estate Company — KSCC, before

intragroup eliminations, is sct out below: {continued)

Period ended
31 Dec.
2023
KD

Revenue 365,172

Loss for the year (6,542)

Total comprehensive loss for the year {6,542)

Period ended

31 Dec.
2023
KD
Net cash flow from operating activities 6,502
Net cash flow used in investing acfivities {9,678)
Net cash flows {3,176)
8 Finance costs
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
On financial fiabilities at amortised cost:
Bank charges 141,068 197,904
Due to banks 155,416 114,232
Borrowings 10,179,460 7,214,356
448,310 705,960

Lease liabilities

10,924,254 §,232,452
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9 Net gain/{loss) on financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets, analysed by category, is as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD

At amortised cosi:
Interest income on ¢ash and cash equivalents 85,235 49,529
Gain on financial assets at amortised cost 85,235 49,529
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 758,535 (207,808)
{Loss) / gain on sale of financial assets at FVTPL (28,233) 8,813
Gain / (loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or foss 730,302 {197,993}
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
Dividend income 362,354 420,308
Gain recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss 362,354 420,308
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTOC! 18,731,390 {2,986,280)
Loss on disposal of financial assets at FVTOCI (6,474,9086) (291,683)
Gain / {loss} recognised in shareholders’ equity 12,256,484 (3.277,963)
Total gain / (loss) on financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income 12,618,838 {2,857,655)

13,434,375 (3,006,119)

Net gain / {loss) on financial assets

10 Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the owners
of the Parent Company by weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year excluding treasury
shares, As there arc no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted carnings per sharc are identical.

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
Profit for the year attributable to the owners ¢f the Parent Company (KD) 11,287,000 7,267,875
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (excluding
treasury shares) (share) 918,118,347 917,789,164
12.29 7.92

Basic and diluted earnings per share (Fils)
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11 Cash and cash equivalents

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD

Cash and bank balances 4,809,854 7,414,147
Cash in investment portfolios managed by others 232,508 147,739
Term deposits 1,125,814 1,044,898
Cash and cash equivalents 6,168,176 8,606,784
Less:
Due to bank {note 19) (3,561,368} (3,093,100}
Restricted bank balances (note 11.1) {42,526) (41,233)
Term deposits with original maturity exceeding three months {1,125,814) {1,044,898)
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated

statement of cash flows 1,438,468 4,427 553

11.1 Restricted bank balances represent balances deposited in a bank located in Lebanon denominated in

Us Dollat.
12 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Local guoted securities 411,335 103,006
Local unguoted securities 81,888 81,895
Foreign quoted securities 3,780 2,271
Foreign unquoted securities 10,450,519 6,612,173
Managed funds 10,964 17,838
10,958,486 6,817,273

One of the Group's investments in a foreign company amounting to KD2,471,276 and representing 30%
ownership of the investee's share capital, has been classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss as the Group does not control or exercise significant influence over the operations of the investec.

The hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair valucs of financial instruments is ptesented in Note 32.2.

13 Accounts receivable and other assets

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD

Financial assets
Accounts receivable 8,020,827 7,6288617
Refundable deposits 776,254 529,068
DCue on sale of investment properties 10,406,793 1,975,990
Other assets 3,049,969 2,396,194

22,253,843 12,529,869
Provision for doubtful debts {5,818,734) (5,675,757)

16,435,109 6,854,112
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13 Accounts receivable and other assets (continued)

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Non-financial assets
Advances to contractors and suppliers 369,032 1,544,843
Advance to purchase investments {13.1) 4,261,994 z
Cther assets 1,038,285 633,810
5,669,311 2,178,653
22,104,420 8,032,765

13.1 Advances to purchase investments represent payments madc to acquire new investments located in
the United States. 'The formalities to finalise the purchase transactions are currently in progress.

The carrying values of the financial assets included above approximate their fair values and all are due within

one year.

The movement in the provision for doubtful debts is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Balance at the beginning of the year 5,675,757 4,885,037
Charge for the year 150,927 790,720
Wiite off during the year {7,950} -
Balance at the end of the year 5,818,734 5,675,757
14 Trading properties
The movement in the trading properties is as follows:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 9,602,427 10,213,820
Disposal during the year - (6086,141)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 12,578 (5,252)
9,615,005 9,602,427
Provision for impairment in value (1,451,230) (1,451,230}
Balance at 31 December 8,163,775 8,151,197

The Group’s trading propetties are located in Lebanon.
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15 Investment in associates

15.1 Deetails of the associates are set out below:

Country of
Name of associate

Kuwait Building Materials Manufacturing — KSCC Kuwait

National Slaughter House Co. — KSCC Kuwait
EFS Facilities Services General Trading and
Contracting Company — WLL Kuwait
KREC Yotel Miami Debt Company Limited Cayman
(16.1.1) fslands
KREC Yotel Miami Equity Company Limited Cayman
(15.1.1) [slands
Zamzam for Religious Tourism Co. — KSCC Kuwait
Cayman
KREC Debt Company Limited Islands
Cayman
KREC Egquity Company Limited Islands
Surda Restaurant Company — WLL (15.1.2) Kuwait

All the abovc associates are unquoted.

Incorporation

Qwnership
percentage Principal activities
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
% %
24.58 24.58 Manufacturing
44 5 44.5  Consumer goods
General trading
50 50 and contracting
100 100  Investment
100 100 Investment
325 32.5 Religious fourism
43.03 43.03 Investment
43.03 43.03 Investment
- 40 Catering

15.1.1 The Group waived part of its voting rightin these investees to a third party. Accordingly, the Group
docs not control these investees. However, the Group classified these investces as assoctates because

it is able to exercise significant influence over the operations of associates.

15.1.2 During the year, the Group transferred its entire ownership in “Surda Restaurant Company — WLL”
to a related party with no considetation, resulting into a loss of KDD120,000 which has been

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

15.2  Following is the movement for the investment in associates during the yeat:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
At 1 January 11,708,391 7,977,142
Additions / capital contribution 158,204 1,309,609
Disposals (15.1.2) (120,000) -
Share of results 398,451 2,384,021
Dividends {37,266) {(73,266)
Share of other comprehensive income 841,406 100,885
At 31 December 12,949,186 11,708,321
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15 Investment in associates (continued)
15.3 Summarised financial information of the Group’s material associates are set out below:

a)  KREC Yotel Miami Debt Company Limited:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Current assets 6,594,036 6,169,207
Total assets 6,487,609 6,169,207
Current liabilities 129,847 -
Total liabilities 129,847 -
Net assets 6,464,189 6,169,207
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Revenue 138,344 1,675,863
Profit for the year 138,344 1,875,863
138,344 1,675,863

Total comprehensive income for the year

Reconciliation of the above simmarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the

consolidated statement of financial position is give below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Group's ownership interest (%) 100% 100%
Net assets of the associate 6,464,189 6,169,207
Group's share of net assets 6,464,189 6,169,207
Carrying amount 6,464,189 6,169,207
b)  KREC Yotel Miami Equity Company Limited:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Current assets 1,228,035 1,198,678
Total assets 1,228,035 1,198,676
Current liabilities 88,150 61,234
Total liabilities 88,150 61,234
1,139,885 1,138,444

Net assets
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15 Investment in associates (continued)

15.3  Summatised financial information of the Group’s material associates ate set out below: (continued)

b} KREC Yotel Miami Equity Company Limited: (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Revenue - 300,649
(Loss) / profit for the year (231) 293,292
Total comprehensive {loss) / income for the year {231) 293,282

Reconciliation of the above summatised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the

consolidated statement of financial position is give below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Group's ownership interest (%) 100% 100%
Net assels of the associale 1,139,885 1,138,444
Group's share of net assets 1,139,885 1,138,444
1,139,885 1,138,444

Carrying amount

15.4  As the associates are individually considered immaterial to the Group, the following is the aggregate

mnformation of the associates:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2023 2022

KD KD
Group's share of results 260,338 424 866
Group share of other comprehensive income 841,406 100,885
Group's share of the total comprehensive income 1,101,631 404,287
Aggregate carrying amount of Group's interest in associates 5,345,112 4,400,740
Dividends 37,266 73,266

16 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD

Local quoted securities 21,886,362 7,101,382
Local unguoted securities 3,680,116 3,887,207
Foreign unquoted securities 13,927,977 13,507,189
Debt instruments 6,437,549 6,207,751
Managed funds 6,853,576 4,834,601

52,785,580 35,628,130
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16 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

(continued)

These investments are held for medium to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the Group has elected
to designate these financial assets as at FVTOCI as it believes that recognising short-term fluctuations in the
fair valuc of these financial assets in consolidated statement of profit or loss would not be consistent with the
Group’s strategy of holding these financial assets for long-term purposes and realising thewr performance
potential in the long run. The above financial assets rcpresent investment in various business sectots as follows:

Financial Real Consumer
services estate services Others Total
KD KD KD KD KD
31 December 2023
Local quoted securities 5,256,234 3,653,326 12,466,546 510,256 21,886,362
Local unquoted securities 347,457 75,044 2,689,302 568,313 3,680,116
Foreign unquoted securities 236,023 13,068,713 391,447 231,794 13,927,977
Debt instruments - 6,437,549 - - 6,437,549
Managed funds - 6,853,576 - - 6,853,576
5,839,714 30,088,208 15,547,295 1,310,363 52,785,580
31 December 2022
Local quoted securities 1,822,174 3,426,564 1,489,674 362,670 7,101,382
Local unquoted securities 704,884 66,251 2,626,605 489,467 3,887,207
Foreign unguoted securities 236,023 12,901,819 381,183 78,164 13,597,188
Debt instruments - 6,207,751 - - 6,207,751
Managed funds - 4,834,601 - - 4,834,601
2,763,081 27,436,986 4,497,762 930,301 35,628,130

Decbt instruments represent promissory notes of foreign companies and carry annual interest rate 9% (31

December 2022: 9%).

Quoted securities with carrying value of KID16,119,872 (31 December 2022: KD4,915,041) are pledged against

borrowings (notes 22).

The hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments by valuation techniques 1s

prescnted in Note 32.2.

17 Properties under development

31 Dec 31 Dec
2023 2022
KD KD
Cost
Land costs 2,183,842 2,183,842
Development costs 2,695,292 -
Carrying value at the beginning of the year 4,879,134 2,183,842
Development costs charged for the year 2,935,874 1,366,928
Change in fair value during the year 45,790 1,298,849
Foreign currency translation adjustments 6,786 31,516
7,867,584 4,879,134

Carrying value at end of the year
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18 Investment properties

Owned Leased
properties properties Total
KD KD KD
31 December 2023:
At 1 January 245,118,001 16,937,666 262,055,667
Additions during the year 7,043,457 - 7,043,457
Arising on acquisiticn of subsidiary 4,961,581 - 4,961,551
Disposals during the year {13,941,815) - (13,941,815}
Change in fair value during the year 1,296,368 (7,783,697) (6,487,329}
At 31 December 244,477,562 9,153,969 253,631,531
31 December 2022:
At 1 January 202,375,820 24 463,708 226,839,628
Additions during the year 44,275,855 - 44,275,955
Disposals during the year (3,465,320} - (3,465,320}
Change in fair value during the year 1,831,446 (7,526,042) {5,5594,598)
At 31 December 245,118,001 16,937,666 262,055,667
18.1 The Group’s investment propertics are located as follows:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Kuwait 185,027,385 183,887,700
UAE 67,113,791 76,669,700
Other MENA countries 1,490,355 1,488,267
253,631,531 262,055,667

18.2 During the year, the Group sold certain properties located in UAR to third parties for an aggregate salc
consideration of KKID23,106,515 resulting into a gain of KID9,609,737. Furthermore, the Group sold cettain
propetties located in Kuwait to related partics and third parties for an aggregate sale consideration of
KD1,794,194 resulting into a gain of K121,349,156.

18.3 Investment properties with a catrying value of KDD216,066,196 (2022: KID216,766,190) are pledged against
botrowings and due to banks (notes 22 and 19).

18.4 Leased properties represent the properties under the BOT contracts signed with the Ministry of Finance -
State Propetties departiment, Kuwait.

Note 32.3 sets out the measurement basis of fair value of the investment propetties.

19  Due to banks
This represents outstanding balance of the credit facilities granted to the Group by a local Islamic bank in the
form of overdraft facilities. The facilities carty an annual profit rate of 0.75% (2022: 1%) above the Central

Bank of Kuwait discount rate.

The duc to banks balance is secured against mortgage of certain investment properties (note 1 8},
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20 Accounts payable and other liabilities

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable 3,249,230 5,019,734
Accrued interest 1,244,239 1,339,383
Accrued expenses and leave 2,507,436 2,273,028
Provision for National Labour Support Tax 2,651,473 2,805,875
Provision for Zakat 807,270 665,541
Provision for KFAS (note 20.1) 161,740 -
Dividends payable 1,281,111 1,202,677
Refundable deposits 1,835,322 2,024,410
QOther liabilities 1,004,976 898,807
14,742,797 16,229,356
Non-financial lizbilities
Advance rent 887,571 1,808,065
Other liabilities 2,905,100 2,225,339
3,792,671 4,131,404
18,535,468 20,360,760

20.1 ‘The Parent Company’s management bclieves that the legislature has not issued a law on the
contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) and thus it is not a tax.
KFAS is a private institution in accordance with the law. There is no provision in the Companies’ Law
or in the Parent Company’s memorandum of association and article of association obligating the
Parent Company to apply this deduction. In spite of the above, the Ministry of Commerce and
Industry (MOCI) has recently issued instructions requiring inclusion of this deduction undl it is

apptoved to hold the general assembly.

Thetefore, the Parent Company's management decided to charge a provision as a precautionary
procedurc only even though it believes no amount is due from the Parent Company, particularly

because the MOCI had issued similar instructions which were previously reversed.

21 Lease liabilities

The Group has leases for the properties under the BOT contracts signed with the Ministry of Finance - State
Properties department, Kuwait. Following is the movement for the lease liabilities during the year:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2023 2022

KD KD
At 1 January 15,643,979 26,906,229
Finance costs charged for the year 448,310 705,960
Settled during the year {8,232,000) (11,968,210)
7,860,289 15,643,879

At 31 December
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21 Lease liabilities (continued)
Future mininmum lease payments as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 werc as follows:

Minimum lease payments due Totai
One year 1-5years
KD KD KD
31 December 2023:
Lease payments 8,232,000 - 8,232,000
Finance charges {(371,711) - (371,711)
Net present values 7,860,289 - 7,860,289
31 December 2022:
Lease payments 8,232,000 8,243,005 16,475,005
Finance charges {448,309) (382,717) (831,026)
Net present values 7,783,691 7,860,288 15,643,979
22 Borrowings
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022

KD KD
Murabaha payables (i) 172,826,459 147,224,568
Wakala payable (ii) 500,000 =
Term loans (i) 25,724,610 33,040,348
Total 199,051,069 180,264,916
Borrowings in KD 173,326,459 147,224 568
Borrowings in other currencies 25,724,610 33,040,348
Total 199,051,069 180,264,918

The borrowings due for repayment as follows:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022

KD KD
Within one year 19,571,520 5,064,136
Qver one year 179,479,549 175,200,780
199,051,069 180,264,316

i)  Murabaha payables represent Islamic financings obtained in Kuwaiti Dinar from local Islamic banks.
Mutabaha payable carry an annual profit rate of 0.75% - 1% (31 December 2022: 1%) over CBK

discount rate and repayable in different unequal instalments ending on 15 April 2030,

i) Wakala payable obtained from Islamic financing catry an annual profit rate of 2% over CBK discount

rate and repayable on quartetly instalments ending on 7 June 2028.
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22 Borrowings {(continued)

iif) ‘T'erm loans represent the following:
- Qurstanding term loans of 11,244,223 obtained in AED and USD from a forcign bank, cartying an
annual interest rate of 3% - 3.5% (31 Deccmber 2022 3% - 3.5%) over SOFR and repayable in
various semi-annual instalments ending on 15 November 2030.

- Qutstanding term loan in AED equivalent to KD 14,480,387 from a foreign bank, carrying an
annual interest rate of 2.5% (31 December 2022: 2.75%) over EIBOR and repayable in various
semi-annual instalments ending on 30 June 2030.

Borrowings are secured by pledge of Group’s financial assets at FV1'OCI and investment properties (notes 16
and 18).

23 Share capital and share premium

Ar 31 December 2023, the authorized, issued and fully paid up share capital of the Parent Company comptised
of 947,365,059 shares of 100 fils each (947,363,059 shares as at 31 December 2022). All shares are cash shares.

The share premtum is non-distributable.

24 Treasury shares

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
Number of treasury shares 29,234,070 28,011,397
Percentage of ownership (%) 3.08% 2.96%
Market value (KD) 5,924,516 2,997,219
Cost (KD) 5,171,096 3,214,552

Reserves of the Parent Company equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares held are not available for
distribution.

25 Statutory and voluntary reserves

Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Atticles

of Association, 10% of the profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company (before
contributions to KIFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration) is required to be transfetred to statutory
reserve. ‘I'he Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50%

of the paid-up share capital.

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of
5% of paid up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings arc not sufficient for the payment of a

dividend of that amount.

Voluntary rescrve
Tn accordance with the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, 10% of

the profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company {before contributions to KEAS,
NLST, Zakat and directors’ remunetation) should be transfetred to voluntary reserve. There arc no restrictions

on distribution of voluntary reserve.
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25 Statutory and voluntary reserves (continued)

Voluntary reserve (continued)
No transfer to reserves is required in a year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or whete

accumulated losses exist.

The movement in the statutory and voluntary reserves is as follows:

Statutory Voluntary

reserve reserve Total
KD KD KD
Balances at 1 January 2023 18,320,771 6,164,616 24,485,387
Transfer from retained earnings during the year 1,198,066 1,198,066 2,396,132
Balances at 31 December 2023 19,518,837 7,362,682 26,881,519
Balances at 1 January 2022 17,560,281 5,404 128 22,964,407
Transfer from retained earnings during the year 760,490 760,490 1,620,980
Balances at 31 December 2022 18,320,771 6,164,616 24,485,387
26 Other components of equity
Movement in other components of equity is as follows:
Foreign
Treasury currency Cumulative
shares translation changes in fair
reserve reserve value Total
KD KD KD KD

Balances at 1 January 2023 6,092,275 (29,648) {25,209,799) {19,147,172)
Bonus shares distribution (note 29) (177,702) - - (177,702)
Loss on sale of treasury shares 1,322,000 - - 1,322,000
Loss on sale of financial assets at FVTOCI - - 6,474,906 6,474,906
Other comprehensive income:
Net change in fair value of financial assets at

FVTOCI - - 12,469,137 12,469,137
Share of other comprehensive Income of

associates - - 841,406 841,406
Exchange differences arising on translation of

foreign operations 15,804 - 15,504
Balances at 31 December 2023 7,236,573 {13,844) (5,424,350} 1,798,379
Balances at 1 January 2022 7,237,493 (509,017) (22,584,300) (15,855,824}
Bonus shares distribution {ncte 29) (284,562} - - (284,562)
Loss on safe of freasury shares (860,656} - - (860,658)
Loss on sale of financial assets at FVTOCI - - 291,683 291,683
Cther comprehensive income.
Change in fair value of financial assets at

FVTOCI - - (2,855,139)  (2,955,139)
Share of other comprehensive income of

associates - - 68,421 69,421
Share of gain on sale of financial assets at

FVTOCI of an associate - (31,464) (31,464)

Currency translation differences - 479,369 - 479,369
Balances at 31 December 2022 6,092 275 (29,648) (25,209,799) (19,147,172}
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27 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities can be reconciled as follows:

Lease Due to Total
Borrowings liabilities bank 2023
KD KD KD KD
Balance at 1 January 180,264,916 15,643,979 3,093,100 198,001,995
Cash flows:
¢ Repayment (30,254,515} (8,232,000) (78,623,178) (117,109,693}
+ Proceeds 48,971,200 - 79,091,446 128,062,646
Non-cash transactions:
= Charged during the year - 448,310 - 448,310
+» Foreign currency 69,468 - - 69,468
31 December 199,051,069 7,860,289 3,561,368 210,472,726
Balance at 1 January 146,760,672 28,806,229 4,470,735 178,137,638
Cash flows:
s+ Repayment (53,403,517)  (11,968,210)  (66,321,942) (131,693,669)
s Proceeds 86,783,433 - 64,944,307 151,727,740
Non-cash transactions:
»  Charged during the year - 705,960 - 705,960
s Foreign currency 124,328 - - 124,328
31 December 180,264,916 15,643,979 3,093,100 199,001,995

28 Related party transactions and balances

Related parties represent associates, directors and key management personncl of the Group, major shareholders
and companies in which directors and key management petsonnel of the Parent Company are principal owners
or over which they are able to exercise significant influence or joint control. Pricing policies and terms of these
transactions are approved by the Parent Company management.

Details of significant related party transactions and balances are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Amounts included in the consolidated financial position:

Due from related parties 16,312,323 12,709,129
Due to related parties 5,714,560 7,937,827
Due on sale of investment properties 22,795 30,043
Purchase of investment in associate - 559,711
Purchase of investment propetrties - 33,919,943
- 1,853,631

Borrowings (note 22)

Duting the year, the Group cntered into an agreement with a related patty for sale of 49% of one of its wholly
owned subsidiary for a total consideration of KDD1,405,000 resulting into a gain of KD77,576 which has been

tecognised directly in equity (note 7.5).

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income amounting to KID2,068,634 (2022
KID1,062,899) and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting to KD361,865 (31 December

2022: KD76,512) are managed by a related party.
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28 Related party transactions and balances (continued)

Transactions included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

Real estate rental income

Real estate operating expenses

Other income

General and administrative expenses

Loss on sale of investment properties

Loss on disposal of associates (note 15.1.2)
Finance costs

Management fees

Provision charge for doubtful debis

Key management transactions:
Gain on sale of investment properties

Key management compensation:
Salaries and short-term benefits
End of service benefits

Board of Directors’ remuneration

Year ended
31 Dec.

2023
KD

2,847,817

947,437
393,968

(120,000}
59,748
550,510

279,713

307,056
11,657
60,000

Year ended
3 Dec.
2022
KD

2,620,087
807,865
466,397
350,768

(27,390)

120,488

140,425

285,640
5,500
40,000

29 Proposed dividends and annual general assembly
Subsequent to the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the board of directors have proposed
to distribute cash dividends of 4 Fils per share and bonus shares of 6% for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The directors also propose remuneration to the hoard of directors of KID60,000. These proposals are subject

to the approval of the general assembly and the regulatory authoritics.

The Annual Genctal Assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company held on 16 Apnl 2023 approved
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the board of directors’ proposal
to distribute cash dividends of 3 Fils (2021: 3 Fils) per sharc and 3% (2021: 3%) bonus shares for the
shareholders of the Parent Company by distributing 3 treasury shares for each 100 shares without an increase
in share capital or increasc in number of issucd shares for the year ended 31 December 2022, IFurthermore, the
General Assembly approved the board of directors’ proposal to distribute directors’ remuneration of KID40,000

for the year then ended (2021: KI1D40,000).
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30 Segmental analysis
The Group operates its activity in real cstatc and investment segments. The segmental analysis of total income
and profit/{loss) for the activities are as follows:

Real estate Investment Services Unallocated Total
KD KD KD KD KD

31 December 2023;

Income 26,098,735 1,371,107 {87,153) 478,645 27,861,334
Profit/(loss) for the year 15,444,199 1,371,107 (1,072,820) (3,483,735) 12,258,751
Total assets 312,855,776 76,693,250 3,751,904 100,430 393,401,360
Total liabilities 212,478,230 18,535,476 3,709,058 1,002,617 235,725,381
Net assets 100,377,548 58,157,774 42,846 (902,187) 157,675,979
31 December 2022:

Income 15,680,277 2,700,470 - 1,522,212 18,902,959
Profit/(loss) for the year 7,447,825 2,485,522 - (2,393,740) 7,639,607
Total assets 275,217,014 54,163,794 = 31,160,886 360,531,794
Total liabilities 199,001,996 20,360,764 - 9,130,446 228,493,208
Net assets 76,215,018 33,793,030 - 22,030,540 132,038,588

31 Risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: e.g. matket tisk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The board of directors’ policies for reducing each of the risks are discussed below.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments based on future speculations.

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below.

311 Marketrisk

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the GCC, other Middle Eastern countries, Europe and USA, and thus is exposed
to foreign currency risk arising from vatious foreign currency exposures. Forcign exchange risk arises from
future commetcial transactions, and recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.
To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored in

accordance with the Group’s tisk management policics. Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures
distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due within twelve months) from longet-term cash flows.
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31 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
311  Market risk (continued)
(a) Foreign cutrency tisk (continued)

The Group had the following significant exposures denominated in foreign currencics, and translated mnto
Kuwaiti Dinar with the closing rates at the end of the year:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
usD 38,713,632 31,621,137
Euro 1,263,833 805,567
GBP 7,773,584 7,042,251
AED 39,260,375 67,831,336

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 2% (2022: 2%) increasc and decrease in the KD against
above foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis inchudes only outstanding foreign currencies denominated
monetary assets and liabilitics and adjusts their translation at the yearend for a 2% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and equity and a negative number indicates
decrease in profit and equity. All other variables are held constant. There has been no change in the methods
and the assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis.

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Results for the year 1,086,188 1,678,279
654,041 567,726

Equity

Exposurcs to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and maturc of the
transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered o be representative of the Group’s exposure to the

foreign currency risk.

{b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the

fair values of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to botrowing and
due to banks.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the results for the year to 2 reasonably possible change in interest
rates of +100 bps (1%) and —100 bps (1%6) {2022 +100 bps (1%) and —100bps (1%)) with effect from the
beginning of the year. The calculations are based on the Group’s financial instruments held at each financial
position date. All other variables arc held constant. There has been no change during the year in the methods

and assumptions used in prepating the sensitivity analysis.

31 Dec. 2023 31 Dec. 2022
+1% 1% +1% 1%
KD KD KD KD
Results for the year {2,026,124) 2,026,124 (1,833,580 1,833,580
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31 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
31,1 Matrket risk (continued)

(c) Price risk
The Group is exposed to cquity price risk with respect to its equity investments and debt instruments. These
financial assets are classified cither at fair value through profit or loss ot at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in sccutities and debt instruments, the Group diversifies its
investment poxtfolios. Diversification of the portfolio is donc in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The below table shows the sensitivity analysis for the Group with regard to its investment in securities and debt
instruments, and it is determined based on possible price risks at the consolidated financial statements date.
There has been no change duting the year in the methods and assumptions vsed in preparing the sensitivity

analysis.

If prices of financial securities had been 5% (2022: 5%) higher, the effect on the result for the year and equity

would have been as follows.

Results for the year Equity
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022 2023 2022
KD KD KD KD
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 547,924 340,864 =
Financial assets at FVTOCI - 2,639,279 1,781,407

547,924 340,864 2,639,279 1,781407

If prices of financial securitics had been 5% (2022; 5%) lower, the effect on the results for the year and equity

would have been equally the reverse as disclosed above.

312  Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the

other party to incur a financial loss. The Group credit policy regarding exposure (o credit tisk requircs
monitoring these risks on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with
individuals or groups of clients in specific locations or businesses through diversification of its activites. It also

obtains secutity when appropriate.

The Group’s cxposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the
consolidated financial position date, as summarized below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 2,068,634 5,897,500
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 361,865 94,350
Due from related parties 16,312,323 12,709,129
Accounts receivable and other assets 16,435,109 6,854,112

6,168,176 8,606,784

Cash and cash equivalents

41,346,107 34,161,875
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31 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

312  Credit risk (continued)
The Group’s managetent considers that all the above financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired for
each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

The credit risk for bank balances is considered negligible, since the counterparties are financial institution with
high credit quality, except for restricted bank balances amount of KD42,526 (31 December 2022: KD41,233)
Jocated in Lebanon. Most of the global credit rating agencies significantly lowered the ratings of Lebanon as
well the banker of the subsidiary becausc of the consequences of the economic and political events prevailing

in Lebanon.

Information on other significant concentrations of credit risk is set out in note 31.4.

31.3  Liquidity risk

Liquidity tisk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilitics when they fall due. To limit this risk,
the Group’s management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and
monitors liquidity on a regular basis.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
repayment obligations.

The liquidity profile of financial liabilities reflects the projected cash flows which includes future interest
payments over the life of these financial liabilities. The liquidity profile of financial liabilities is as follows:

1.3 3-12 QOver 1
months months year Total
KD KD KD KD

31 December 2023
Liabilities
Borrowings - 19,571,520 179,479,549 199,051,069
Lease liabilities - 7.860,289 - 7,860,289
Provision for employees’ end of services benefits - - 1,002,627 1,002,627
Due to related parties - 5,714,560 - 5,714,560
Accounts payable and other liabilities 18,535,468 - 18,535,468
Due to banks 3,561,368 - “ 3,561,368

3,561,368 51,681,837 180,482,176 235,725,331
31 December 2022
Liabilities
Borrowings 2,300,000 2,764,138 175,200,780 180,264,816
Lease liabilities - 7,783,691 7,860,288 15,643,979
Provision for employees’ end of services benefits - - 1,182,624 1,192,624
Due to related parties - 7,937,827 - 7.937.827
Accounts payable and other liabilities 20,360,760 - 20,380,760
Due to banks 3,093100 - - 3,093,100

5,393,100 38,846,414 184,253,692 228,493,206

The table below summatises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. Except for financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income and investment properties, the maturities of assets and liabilities
have been determined on the basis of the remaining petiod from the reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The matutity profile for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and investment
properties is derermined based on management's planned exit datcs.
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31 Risk management objectives and policies {(continued)

31.3  Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of assets and hiabilities at 31 December 2023;

1-3 312 Over 1
months months year Total
KD KD KD KD
Assels
Property and equipment - - 2,407,119 2,407,119
Investment properiies - - 253,631,531 253,631,531
Capital work in progress - 53,180 - 53,180
Properties under development - 7,867,684 - 7,867,584
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - 52,785,580 52,785,580

Investment in associates - - 12,949,186 12,949,186
Trading properties - 8,163,775 - 8,163,775
Due from related parties - 16,312,323 - 16,312,323
Accounts receivable and other assels - 21,271,266 833,154 22,104,420
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 10,958,486 - 10,958,486
Cash and cash equivalents (see below) 6,168,176 - - 6,168,176

6,168,176 64,626,614 322,606,570 393,401,360
Liabilities
Borrowings - 19,571,520 179,479,549 199,051,069
Lease liabilities - 7,860,289 - 7,860,289
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits - - 1,002,627 1,002,627
Due to related parties - 5,714,560 - 5,714,560
Accounts payable and other liabilities - 18,535,468 - 18,535,468
Due to bank 3,561,368 - - 3,561,368

3,561,368 51,681,837 180,482,176 235,725,381
Net liquidity gap 2,606,808 12,944,777 142,124,394 157,675,979

As of 31 December 2023, there are certain restrictions on the liquidity of cash and cash equivalents amounting
to KID42,526 (31 December 2022: KID41,233) (note 11).

The matunity profile of asscts and liabilities at 31 December 2022:

1-3 3-12 Over1
months months year Total
KD KD KD KD
Assels
Property and equipment - - 812,309 812,309
Investment properties - - 262,055,667 262,055,667
Capital work in progress 3 131,015 - 131,015
Properties under development - 4,879,134 - 4,879,134
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - 3562813 35,628,130
Investment in associates - - 11,708,391 11,708,381
Trading properties - 8,151,197 - 8,151,197
Due from related parties - 12,708,129 - 12,709,129
Accounts receivable and other assets - 9,032,765 - 9,032,765
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss L 6,817,273 = 6,817,273
Cash and cash equivalents (see below) 8,606,784 - - 8,606,784
8,606,784 41,720,513 310,204,497 360,531,794
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31 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

313 Liquidity risk (continued)
1-3 312 QOver1
months months year Total
KD KD KD KD
Liabilities
Borrowings 2,300,000 2,764,136 175,200,780 180,264,916
Lease liabilities - 7,783,691 7.860,288 15,643,979
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits - - 1,192,624 1,192,624
Due to related parties - 7.937,827 - 7,937,827
Accounts payable and other liabilities - 20,380,780 - 20,380,760
Due to bank 3,093,100 - - 3,093,100
5,393,100 38,846,414 184,253,602 228,493,206
Net liquidity gap 3,213,684 2,874,099 125,950,805 132,038,588

314 Geographical Concentration
The distuibution of the financial assets according to their geographical area in 2023 and 2022 are as follows:
Qther USA,
Middle Europe and
Eastern other
Kuwait Countries counfries Total
KD KD KD KD
As of 31December 2023
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 20,083,554 - 32,702,026 52,785,580
Due from related parties 16,312,323 - - 16,312,323
Accounts receivable and other assets 21,164,934 - 939,486 22,104,420
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,979,244 - 7,979,242 10,958,486
Cash and cash equivalents 4,820,154 852,451 495,571 6,168,176
65,360,208 852,451 42116,325 108,328,985
As of 31December 2022
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 7,241,814 - 28,386,316 35,628,130
Due from related parties 12,708,129 - - 12,709,129
Accounts receivable and other assets 8,298,405 - 734,360 9,032,765
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 202,012 - 6,615,261 6,817,273
Cash and cash equivalents 7,887,052 247,942 471,790 8,606,784
36,338,412 247,942 36,207,727 72,794,081

32 Fair value measurement

321 Fair value hierarchy

Fair value represents the price that would be received to scll an asset ot paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction betwecn market participants at the measurement date.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position
are grouped into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The threc Levels ate defined based on the obscrvability

of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:
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32 Fair value measurement {continued)

321  Fait value hierarchy (continued)

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable

for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

or liability that are not based on obsetvable market data (unobservable inputs).

322 Fair value measurement of financial insttuments

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset

The cartying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD

Financial assets:
At amortised cost:
Due from related parties 16,312,323 12,708,129
Accounts receivable and other assets 16,435,109 6,854,112
Cash and cash equivalents 6,168,176 8,606,784
At fair value:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10,958,486 6,817,273
Financial assets at fair value through cther comprehensive income 52,785,580 35,628,130

102,659,674 70,615,428
Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings 199,051,069 180,264,916
Lease liabilities 7,860,289 15,643,979
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 1,002,627 1,192,624
Due to related parties 5,714,560 7,937,827
Accounts payable and cther liabilities 18,535,468 20,360,760
Due to bank 3,561,368 3,083,100

235,725,381 228,493,206

Management considers that the carrying amounts of loans and reccivable and all financial liabilittes, which are

stated at amortized cost, apptoximate their fair values.

The level within which the financial assct or lability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of

significant input to the fair value measurement.
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32 Fair value measurement (continued)

32.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair valuc on a recurring basis in the consolidated statement of
financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

31 December 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss:

Local quoted securities 411,335 - - 411,335
Local unguoted securities - - 81,888 81,888
Foreign quoted securities 3,780 - - 3,780
Foreign unquoted securities - - 10,450,519 10,450,519
Managed funds - 10,964 - 10,964

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

Local quoted securities 21,886,362 - - 21,886,362
Local unguoted securities - - 3,680,116 3,680,116
Foreign unquoted securities - 13,927,977 13,927,977
Debt instruments - - 6,437,549 6,437,549
Managed funds - 6,853,576 - 6,853,576

22,301,477 6,864,540 34,578,049 63,744,066

31 December 2022

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or

foss:
Local quoted securities 103,086 - - 103,086
Local unquoted securities - - 81,895 81,895
Foreign quoted securities 2,271 - - 2,271
Foreign unquoted securities - - 6,612,173 6,612,173
Managed funds - 17,838 - 17,838
Financial assets at fair vaiue through other

comprehensive income:
Local quoted securities 7,101,382 - - 7,101,382
Local unquoted securities - - 3,887,207 3,887,207
Foreign unguoted securities - - 13,597,189 13,597,189
Debt instruments - - 6,207,751 6,207,751
Managed funds - 4,834,601 - 4,834,601

7,208,749 4,852439 30,386,215 42,445,403

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair valuc measurement
of level 2 and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs

and fair value, are set out below.

Financial assets at fair value:
"The Group’s finance team petrforms valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including

Level 3 fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, where required.
Valuation techniques are sclected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of

maximising the use of market-based information.

The valuation techniques used for instruments categorised in Tevels 2 and 3 arc described below
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32 Fair value measurement (continued)
32.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets at fair value: (continued)
Certain unquoted equity securities are valued based on book valuc and price to book muluple method using
latest financial statements available of the investee entities.

Other unquoted equity securities and debt instruments ate valued using cash flow projections based on financial
estimates approved by senior management. The growth rates used to arrive at the terminal value ranged from
1% to 3%, Further the revenue growth projections ate based on the assessment of the future business growth.

Key assumptions wsed in fair value caloniations
The calculation of fair value is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

" Discount rates;
*  Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period;

" T.ocal inflation rates.

Disconnt razes
Discount rates are calculated by using risk free rate, equity market risk premium, beta factor and company

specific risk premium (alpha factor).
Market share assumptions

These assumptions, as well as use of industry data for growth rates, are important as the entity’s telative position
1o its competitors might change over the budget period.

Projected growth rates and local inflation rales
Assumptions are based on references from published industry research tcpotts.

Investments in funds have been valued bascd on Net Asset Value (NAV) of the fund provided by the fund
manager.

Changing inputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alterative assumptions would not change
significantly amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, total assets, total liabilities or

total equity.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

Levcl 3 fair value measurements
The Group measurement of financial assets and liabilities classified in level 3 uscs valuation techniques inputs

that are not based on obhservable market data. The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from

beginning to ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Opening balance 30,386,215 28,267,854
Additions 6,716,488 1,716,041
Disposals - (248,639)
Change in fair value (2,524,654) {349,041)
34,578,049 30,388,215

Closing balance

Changing inputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumption would not change
significantly amounts recognised in profit or loss, total assets or total liabilities or total equity.
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32 Fair value measurement (continued)

32.3 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets
The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value on a
recurting basis at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD

31 December 2023
Investment properties
- in Kuwait 185,027,385 185,027,385
- in UAE 67,113,791 67,113,791
- in other MENA countries 1,490,355 1,490,355
Properties under development
- in UAE 7,867,584 7,867,584

261,499,115 261,499,115
31 December 2022
Investment properties
- in Kuwait 183,887,700 183,897,700
- in UAE 76,669,700 76,669,700
- in other MENA countries 1,488,267 1,488,267
Properties under development
- in UAE 4,879,134 4,879134

266,934,801 266,934 801

The fair values of all investment properties have been determined based on valuations obtined from
independent and accredited valuers for each investment propetty, who are specialised in valuing these types of
investment propetties, The significant inputs and assumptions are developed in close consultation with
management. As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, for the valuation purpose, the Group has selected the lower

valuc of the rwo valuations obtained for each local investment propetty.

Properties
The fair values of the properties that have been determined based on the faiv value provided by independent

and accredited valuers who have valued the investment properties using income approach which capitalises the
monthly cstimated rental income stream, net of projected operating costs using a discount rate derived from
the market yields. When actual rent differs materially from estimated rents, adjustments have been made to the
cstimated rental value. When using the cstimated rental stream approach, adjustments to actual rental are
incorporated for factors such as current occupancy levels, the terms of in-place leases, expectations for rentals

from future leases and unlicensed rented areas.

Land
The fair values of the land that have been determined based on fair values provided by an independent and

accredited valuers who has valued the investment properties using a market approach that reflects obscrved
ptices for recent market transactions for similar propertics and incorporates adjustments for factors specific to
the land in question, including plot size, location, encumbrances and curtent use.
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32 Fair value measurement {continued)

32.3  Fairt value measurement of non-financial assets (continued)

Land (continued)
Further information regarding the level 3 fair value measurcments is set out in the table below:

Significant Range of Relationship of
Valuation unobservable unchservable unobservable inputs to fair
Description technique inputs inputs value
Buildings
Kuwait Estimated rental  Monthly KD425t0 KD3,000 Fair value increases if
stream approach economic rental  (2022: KD 333 fo economic rental value
value KD9,000) increases, and vice versa.
UAE Estimated rental  Monthly KD152 to Fair value increases |if
stream approach economic rental  KD220 (2022: KD  economic rental value
value 119 to KD 207) increases, and vice versa.
Land
Kuwait Market Estimated KD3 to
comparisen market price (per KD215 (2022: KD3 Higher the price per square
approach sq ff.) to KD252) meter, higher the fair value
UAE Market Estimated
comparison market price (per KD3 1o KD3 (2022: Higher the price per square
approach sq ft.) KD3 to KDZ27) meter, higher the fair value
Other MENA Market Estimated KD13 to
countries comparison market price {per KD13 (2022: KD13 Higher the price per square
approach sq ft.) to KD13) meter, higher the fair value

Level 3 Fair value measurements
The Group measurement of investment properties classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that are
not based on obscrvable market data. The investment properties within this level can be reconciled from

beginning to ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2023 2022

KD KD
Opening balance 266,934,801 226,839,628
Additions 9,986,117 45,642,883
Arising from acquisition of subsidiary 4,961,551 -
Transferred from properties under development - 2,183,842
Disposals during the year {13,941,8185) (3,465,320)
Changes in fair value (6,441,539) (4,287 747)
Foreign currency translation adjustments - 31,515
261,499,115 266,934,801

Closing balance

33 Capital risk management

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide adequate return to its shareholders through the optimization of the capital structure.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions
and other variables including risks related to the Group assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
sttucture, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to sharcholders, return capital to shareholders,

1ssue new shares or sell asscts to reduce debt.
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33 Capital risk management {continued)
The capital structure of the Group consists of the following:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2023 2022

KD KD
Borrowings (note 22) 199,051,069 180,264,916
Due to bank {note 19) 3,561,368 3,093,100
Lease liabilities (note 21) 7,860,289 15,643,979
Less:
Cash and cash equivalenis {ncte 11) {6,168,176) {8.608,784)
Net debt 204,304,550 180,395,211
Equity 157,875,979 132,038,588
Net debt to equity ratio 130% 144%

34 Contingent liabilities and commitments

Contingent liabilities represent letters of guarantee and capital commitments at the consolidated financial

position datc are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD KD
Issued letters of guarantee 10,964,278 10,964,278
Capital commitments 6,924,895 6,130,046
17,889,173 17,004,324

35 Operating leases

Operating leases, in which the Group is the lessor, relate to investment properties owned or leased by the
Group as well as held under head-leasc arrangements. The terms of operating leases range between 1-5 years
with one-year extension option. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that
the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessce does not have an option to purchase the property at the end
of lease term.

36 Legal case
During the years ptior to the Group’s acquisition of one of its subsidiarics, this subsidiary had filed lawsuits
against three of its former board of directors {“defendants”) for compensation of KID24,812,190.

On 23 March 2023, the Court of Appeals ruled in favour of the subsidiaty to oblige these members to pay final
compensation with a total amount of KID24,812,1%0 against this lawsuit.

One of the defendants has appealed to the Court of Appeal and a consultation session was scheduled on 13
August 2023.

On 10 April 2023, the Court of Appeals issued an order to postpone the execution of the dectee in the urgent
matter until 2 decision is finalized regarding the appeal.
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36 Legal case (continued)

The financial impact of this judgment depends on what may be collected, primarily because the verdict was
issued against individuals, As of the date of issuance of this consolidated financial information, the lawsuit is
still deliberated before the Court of Cassation.

37 Comparative amounts

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the current year. Such
reclassification does not affect previously reported net asscts, net equity, net results for the year or net increase
in cash and cash equivalents.
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